1953

Heber W. Glenn v. Gibbons & Reed Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This was an action based on negligence to recover damages resulting from a slide in a gravel pit owned and operated by respondent, Gibbons & Reed Company, which

buried a power shovel owned by the appellant (R. 1, 2). The case was tried before a jury who returned a verdict in favor of the appellant (R. 10) subject to prior motions made by the respondent for a directed verdict of no cause of action taken under advisement by the court (R. 9). The court subsequently granted the motions and set aside the judgment on the verdict directing a judgment of no cause of action in favor of the respondent (R. 13). The motions for a directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict were based on the grounds that there was no showing of negligence and proximate cause as to the conduct of the respondent, Gibbons & Reed, or that the conduct of the appellant constituted contributory negligence (R. 9, 346, 424).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Since the issue before the court is the sufficiency of the evidence to go to the jury and will require in the argument a fairly complete review of the evidence, only a brief summary of the facts will be made at this time.

On the 19th day of July, 1951, the respondent, Gibbons & Reed Company commenced removing gravel from property owned by the respondent located east of Beck Street in the hills southeast of Bountiful, Utah (R. 349, 27). The gravel pit generally was called the White Hill Sand and Gravel Company operated under a lease by Gordon T. Hyde (R. 26). However, the respondent, Gibbons & Reed Company, had retained in their lease the right to remove materials for its own operations. The

original order, when operations were commenced by Gibbons & Reed, contemplated a removal of approximately 20,000 yards of gravel (R. 31, 178). Ultimately 73,386 yards were removed (R. 406). The material was removed from the north side of the canyon as contrasted to the operation conducted by Mr. Hyde which was on the south side of the canyon (R. 108). After the original order of approximately 20,000 yards had been completed an additional order was made and the operation continued with successive orders until approximately 50,000 yards had been removed (R. 180). This original 50,000 yards was removed by use of a shovel owned and operated by Gibbons & Reed Company (R. 33). Their shovel had been taken from the project when a request for additional gravel was made and a small amount was then loaded by the equipment of Mr. Hyde (R. 41). On October 8, 1951, to comply with additional requests for gravel, arrangements were made with Victor Newman to load the gravel (R. 406). Newman's shovel was not in operating condition and he leased the shovel owned by the appellant and used it to load the gravel at the pit (R. 290). On October 13, 1951, there was a slide in the gravel pit which buried the shovel of the plaintiff which gives rise to the lawsuit (R. 48). The testimony in support of the appellant's case was submitted to show that the respondent in anticipating that only 20,000 yards of gravel would be removed commenced loading the gravel from the base of the hills operating the shovel on a constant level, (R. 35), digging into the hill which resulted

in the establishment of practically a vertical bank of gravel which was variously described as being from 60 to 100 feet in height (R. 45, 356). On August 16, 1951, in order to enable the respondents to continue loading the gravel, blasting operations were commenced to cause the bank to slough off and make available loose gravel at the floor of the pit which could be loaded by the shovel (R. 406). The floor of the pit was located on a clay base of undetermined depth (R. 47, 122, 185). The loading was purposely kept above the strata of clay since only gravel was desired. There was a considerable amount of water or a dampness encountered in removing the gravel from the top of the clay, it being apparent that the water seeped down through the gravel until it came to the clay strata and then followed along on top of the clay strata (R. 47, 93, 108, 185, 122). It was the contention of the plaintiff that the operation was dangerous in that there was created a precipitous vertical bank of gravelly material which danger was aggravated by the fact that the gravel was on a wet clay base and the respondent continued to blast with dynamite at the base of the vertical bank loosening the material all of which, together with the force of the over-burden, pushed the base out permitting the slide.

POINT I.

THE COURT ERRORED IN DIRECTING A JUDGMENT OF NO CAUSE OF ACTION IN FAVOR OF THE RESPONDENT SINCE THE EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE, PROXIMATE CAUSE AND CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE WAS

SUFFICIENT TO REQUIRE THE SUBMISSION OF THOSE
ISSUES TO THE JURY FOR ITS DETERMINATION.

A. Respondent's negligence and proximate cause.

The motions of the respondent for a directed verdict were in substance based upon the grounds that the appellant had not introduced evidence showing negligence and proximate cause and for the additional ground that the appellant was contributorily negligent. It is elemental that on appeal from a directed verdict the evidence will be reviewed in the light most favorable to the appellant. It is equally fundamental that the issues of negligence, proximate cause and contributory negligence are questions for the jury when the evidence is such that reasonable minds may differ as to the conclusion to be drawn from the evidence. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellant it is submitted that the evidence shows that the respondent was negligent, which negligence was the proximate cause of the damage to the appellant. More particularly, an introductory summary of the factors showing that the respondent operated the gravel pit in a dangerous manner which was known to the respondent or should have been known by the respondent and the factors showing a lack of due care by the respondent are as follows:

1. The gravel pit was operated with a practically vertical bank extending from 60 to 100 feet in height.
2. The gravel material was resting on a wet clay base.
3. Water ran through the gravel down to and along

the clay washing therefrom the fine material holding the coarse gravel formation in tact.

4. The respondent blasted with dynamite vibrating and further loosening the formation of gravel at its base.

5. The operation of the pit was not in compliance with the general safety orders issued by the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah which required that the bank be sloped.

6. The pit was not operated in the normal and usual manner for gravel pits of this type since the bank should have been terraced into a gradual slope of successive levels when removing the material from the bottom rather than from the top of the formation.

7. The respondent owns and operates other gravel pits and is familiar with the normal and usual procedures.

8. The operation in this gravel pit was not done by the respondent's regular gravel pit operator but rather by a foreman whose primary duties were not the supervision of gravel pit operations.

9. The respondent has available safety engineers with whom the gravel pit operator could have consulted in connection with the removal of the gravel and the blasting.

10. The respondent was warned by Mr. Hyde that the operation was dangerous.

11. The operator of the shovel for respondent refused at one time to work in the pit as it was being operated.

12. Men sent to the operation from a commercial

blasting company refused to blast under the circumstances under which the pit was being operated.

13. Witnesses testified that it could be reasonably anticipated, foreseen and expected that the operation of the pit as being conducted by respondent would result in a slide.

A more detailed review of the evidence in support of the appellant's claim not only shows that the evidence was sufficient for submission of the issues to the jury but rather that the evidence is so strong that it more than amply justifies the verdict of the jury in finding the issues in favor of the appellant.

The first witness called by the plaintiff was Gordon T. Hyde, owner and operator of White Hill Sand and Gravel Company, who had been in that profession between 25 and 30 years (R. 26). This witness testified that there were two different ways of operating a pit of this nature (R. 29). One was by use of a dragline consisting of a bucket attached to a cable which was pulled back and forth scaling off the top of the hill. The other procedure would be by using a shovel and starting at the bottom, but instead of staying on a constant level, various levels would be created gradually ascending up the hill in a gradual slope. This procedure is commonly called or referred to as terracing the hill (R. 29). Neither of these procedures was followed by the respondent company; but rather, the company came onto the property and removed the material maintaining their shovel on a constant level (R. 30, 35), except for approximately one-

half day when the shovel was attempted to be operated at a higher level resulting from the refusal of the operator of the respondent company to work any longer under the bank (R. 35,180). This operation at a higher level was discontinued after approximately one-half day since the material secured from that location did not meet the specifications desired by the company (R. 35, 36 and 93). His testimony was also to the effect that what was called a vertical bank in places was as high as 100 feet (R. 46); that the shovel operated on a clay base with water in some places described as running water encountered at the top of the clay base (R. 47), and that a powder man referred to as a Mexican came out and inspected the bank and refused to perform any blasting work in connection therewith (R. 39-40). Thereafter a contract was made to employ some of Mr. Hyde's men after working hours to do the blasting (R. 40, 91). The witness further testified that he refused to load any material for the respondent under the bank or to blast under the bank and thereafter refused to load any of the gravel for the respondent (R. 42). After the respondent company had thought that it was through removing gravel from the pit and had removed its shovel and equipment, a trap was installed in the pit for Mr. Hyde since he contemplated operating in that region. Thereafter when respondent returned for additional gravel Mr. Hyde remonstrated against the respondent removing what he termed was a wedge of material which afforded protection to the trap. In so doing he told

the foreman for the respondent company as follows:

"I talked to Mr. Keith when he ordered his blasters to go in there and blast and asked him not to do it. I told Mr. Keith that I wouldn't go under there if I were those men I wouldn't go under there for the whole Phillips Petroleum Co. and that was the key, and they were making a serious mistake if they removed it." (R. 45).

This witness further testified as follows:

"Q. Okay. Now when you said that this was dangerous what did you mean?

A. I meant that they were operating on a layer of clay with gravel from which the gravel had been washed out and they were operating that where they blasted. One side there the material would drop down fifty feet on the other side and I knew that the bank had been jarred until it was just shaky.

Q. And dangerous to what?

A. What?

Q. Dangerous to what?

A. To anything or anybody operating under there.

Q. To any person operating under it.

A. To anything else near there." (R. 82, 83.)

"Q. Now you said that you considered this a dangerous bank. What caused you to believe that it would be dangerous?

A. Because I have seen it fall down time and again when they blasted; seen it slough out a larger or smaller quantities. It was right on

the clay bank and the water it made a perfect rollercoaster out of it.

Q. By roller-coaster, what do you mean?

A. I mean this. That those round rocks had nothing in between them, no sand in between them, so they would be impacted. There were layers of rock without any fine material in it and if the bank ever started it would come right down. The same thing is true in Parleys Canyon. I could cite you a half a dozen different cases where they had the same thing happen under exactly the same conditions.

Q. You were expecting a slide?

A. That's right." (R. 103.)

"Q. Now you said you had seen similar slides to this. Do you have in mind banks similar to this?

A. Well, we have been operating on one for years.

Q. Where is that?

A. Across the canyon. The same one exactly. It's exactly the same kind of a bank, the same kind of formation. We have a clay. We run into beds of clay when we get down to a certain distance, with gravel on top. It is a wet hill. It's so wet we have streams coming out of it. We have tanks of water that we gather from those streams, and Gibbons & Reed people have filed on for irrigation. Now there is plenty of water in all those hills. They are just exactly the same. We have operated on there for years and taken out hundreds of thousands of yards of material and never had a slide.

Q. How have you done that operation?

A. We have used the dragline and the dozer and

we have taken the material off the top and not off of the bottom.

Q. Does that permit you to leave the bank and the hill in a general gradual slope?

A. A gradual slope from the stream height in the rear to the trap which acts as a barrier for the general slide of the material." (R. 108.)

"Q. In all your experience you have never seen anything like it, have you?

A. Oh yes, yes. I have seen them. Not quite the same, but I have seen it. I have seen it in Parleys Canyon.

Q. So that you would expect it?

A. Yes. Not exactly like that but I have seen the same cause produce the same effect.

Q. To what extent?

A. I don't think as large as that, no.

Q. Anything like that?

A. Well, like it. Yes, on the same lines.

Q. I mean in extent?

A. No, I think not. But it is not, it is not unusual to have something of that kind happen.

Q. It is not unusual to have a slide in a gravel pit, is it?

A. It's not unusual if you take the bottom out. It happens nearly every time.

Q. I say, it is not unusual to have a slide in a gravel pit?

A. Well, we have operated our pit for ten years. We operated another one and I have been doing it for twenty-five years and I have never had a slide." (R. 109 and 110.)

The next witness was Arlo V. Dastrup who testified that he had been working at the White Hill Sand and

Gravel pit as a superintendent since 1938 (R. 115). He was one of the men employed to do the blasting after work for Mr. Hyde was completed. He testified that after the first blast he told the superintendent for the respondent that "it was so doggone dangerous that I renigged on him" and demanded more money (R. 117). As to the procedure for blasting he testified that they would climb up on any loose material at the base of the vertical face of the bank and would dig a hole straight into the face of the bank usually about eight feet and place the dynamite in the hole and set off the blast. Occasionally they set off two blasts simultaneously at different places in the face of the bank (R. 118). Before discharging the blast they would get as far away from the charge as possible, usually 150 feet, at which distance they could feel a definite vibration and shaking of the ground when the powder was discharged (R. 119). They would use anywhere from ten to eighty-five sticks of dynamite at different times. Blasting was not done every night but usually every two or three days or as often as necessary to secure sufficient loose material for the shovel to load. The evening before the slide Mr. Dastrup testified that they had set off a discharge using 32 sticks of dynamite (R. 121). He stated that the bank had become loose from continual blasting which made it difficult for them to dig the hole in which to put the charge of dynamite (R. 122); confirmed the prior testimony as to the water on the clay base (R. 122); and testified that he was glad when they were through since he was darn scared (R. 123). The witness stated

that the height of the bank before the slide was 80 feet and maybe higher (R. 121), and further verified that before the slide they had blasted away a wedge of material and dirt of 30 or 40 feet (R. 127). As to their operation in the gravel pit he stated that they had always pulled the material from the top (R. 133).

C. W. Spence, former State Mine Inspector for 8 years, testified that any gravel bank higher than a boom on a shovel, described as being 30 feet high, was dangerous and that any bank which was straight up and down or nearly vertical was considered to be dangerous. The witness testified that safety rules had been established as a result of a conference of interested persons (R. 153, 155). The safety rules as there developed and adopted by the Industrial Commission in part provided as follows:

“Section 60.

(b) It shall be the duty of the foreman, shift boss or other designated official to see that banks are made safe before men or equipment are allowed to work under them. Men scaling or barring down the banks must be provided with safety belts where necessary.

(b-2) Employees will not be required to work under unsafe banks. If employee or employees deem banks to be unsafe they shall immediately advise their foreman relative to such condition and proceed to prepare or make the banks safe for operation.

(c) All possible precaution shall be used in open pit operations to prevent accidents resulting

from falls of rock from banks. These precautions to include proper sloping of banks consistent with type of rock, height of bank and type of equipment used." (R. 146.) (Exh. "G".)

Concerning the blasting he testified as follows:

"A. Well, I would say if they kept blasting it would be all right, but if they blast and clean up and again blast and clean up you are working under a dangerous spot all the time." (R. 160.)

As to the proper or safe way to operate under such conditions the witness testified that they should work from the top either with a cat or a dragline (R. 165).

Irwin Hansen, an employee of respondent and the shovel operator who loaded the first 50,000 yards before the shovel of the respondent was removed from the pit, was called as a witness. Concerning the dangerous nature of the bank he testified as follows:

"Q. Did you at one time pull your shovel away from the operation?

A. I did.

Q. Why?

A. It was too dangerous to work under it." (R. 180.)

"Q. You state you removed your shovel. Did you see anyone when you did that?

A. My immediate supervisor.

Q. And who was that?

A. Louis Keith.

Q. And what did you tell him?

A. I told him that it was too dangerous." (R. 182.)

This witness also verified that there was water and not just dampness found on top of the clay base at the bottom of the gravel formation (R. 185). He stated that in his opinion the effect of the continual blasting over a period of time would be to loosen or shaken the base of the gravel bank since that was the general idea of blasting (R. 186). The witness further testified concerning the dangerous nature of the operation as follows:

"Q. What did you expect the bank to do, considering it was on a wet clay base with water running through the gravel at the base and after they had been blasting at the base for approximately a month?

A. Say that again.

Q. What would you expect to happen, without reviewing those factors — you know what they are — what would you expect to happen with that vertical bank?

A. I would expect it to come down.

Q. How would you expect it to come down?

A. To slide down; slough down.

Q. How far away did you operate your shovel from the bank?

A. Approximately twenty-five feet.

Q. And you considered that to be dangerous even so, is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. How far back would you have felt that you would have had to be away from the highest point of the vertical bank, or nearly vertical as you have described, in order to be safe from any sliding down would you expect it to happen as the result of those operations?

A. Say that again.

- Q. How far back — you said that you operated back about twenty-five feet and you considered that dangerous — how much further back would you believe that you should be to be completely free and safe from any anticipated slide or sloughing caused by the operation?
- A. You are never safe in a gravel pit." (R. 187 and 188.)

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