1953

Heber W. Glenn v. Gibbons & Reed Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The Bamberger case has been cited in other jurisdictions and was announced by our court because of similar holdings in other states. In the case of *Denham Theatre, Inc., vs. Beeler* (1941, Colo.) 109 P. 2d 643, the Supreme Court of Colorado cited the Bamberger case and held that where the plaintiff's own evidence discloses his negligence there is no burden of proof resting upon the defendant, and that to instruct the jury that the defendant has the burden of proof under such circumstances is error.

"Where it may legitimately be inferred from plaintiff's own evidence that she was contributorily negligent, there is no burden of proof resting upon defendant." (p. 655 #4.)

The proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury was leaving the shovel in a place of danger. We did not leave the shovel in a place of danger, we did not even place it in a place of danger. Plaintiff left his shovel in a place of danger according to his own evidence. Under

such circumstances his own conduct is the proximate cause of his damage. In *Olson vs. Denver & R. G. W. R. Co.*, 98 U. 208, 98 P. 2d, 944, this court held that although the defendant created the condition, it was the plaintiff's own act in running into the defendant's train which was the proximate cause of the accident.

The plaintiff voluntarily left his shovel in a position which he and he alone says was one of absolute danger. It is not our duty to back his shovel out. That duty was his if he felt it was in danger. Actually he could not have believed it to be in danger or he wouldn't have left it there. His excuse that he had on his good suit, etc., is the real reason and he cannot escape the consequences of his own act merely because it was inconvenient for him to act. The truth of the matter is that he didn't think the shovel was in any particular danger and if he didn't think so he can't charge us with any further knowledge than he had. Plaintiff is impaled upon either or both horns of his dilemma, assumption of risk or contributory negligence.

POINT IV. A CONSIDERATION OF PLAINTIFF'S POSITION AND BRIEF.

It will readily appear from an examination of the record that the plaintiff has only partially and incompletely stated the undisputed facts as they appear from the record. On pages 5 and 6 and 33 and 34 of his Brief, plaintiff lists 13 points which:

1. Do not establish any duty that we owe him,
2. Are not accurate,
3. Do not exonerate plaintiff from his corresponding duty even if there had been a duty owed him by us.

He states in his first three propositions that the gravel pit was operated with a vertical bank extending from 60 to 100 feet in height resting on a wet clay base, and that water ran down, through and along the clay washing therefrom the fine material holding the coarse gravel formation intact. Bearing in mind that we were operating our own gravel pit on our own property, the plaintiff has no right to complain about the method of operation unless we owed him a duty. However, nowhere does it appear that there was a vertical bank 60 to 100 feet in height. All the testimony is to the effect that there was a solid slope and loose material at least half way up the bank, the solid material had never been touched and the loose material was that which had sloughed off in the course of operations, so, although only one witness, Mr. Hyde, ever stated that the bank was 100 feet in height which obviously was erroneous from the testimony of all the other witnesses, that would only establish that the so-called vertical bank was 50 feet and that bank was never vertical, but always sloped back. There is no evidence that there was a wet clay base. Water was found only intermittently, as also

was the clay, nor did the water run down through the gravel washing it out; the evidence is that the water was never running and such water as there was was intermittent.

We have already commented on the value of Dr. Cook's evidence. He was the only one who purported to give a theory of this tremendous slide, and on cross-examination he conceded that he didn't know what caused it; that his theory was based upon facts given to him which he conceded were not borne out by the evidence.

Point 4 by the plaintiff is that we used dynamite. There is nothing in the evidence that the defendant violated any proper procedure in this respect.

In Point 5 plaintiff states that the operation was not in compliance with the orders of the Industrial Commission. This court will search the record in vain for any such evidence. Not only are the so-called regulations of the Industrial Commission too vague and indefinite to establish a duty, but Mr. Spence the former safety official of the state completely failed to point out any violation of these vague regulations on our part.

Point 6 is completely untrue that the pit was not operated in the normal and usual manner. It is true Mr. Hyde stated that he didn't operate the pit that way, but we are not bound to follow Mr. Hyde or his views, and the very fact that Mr. Hyde himself left his own machinery and equipment where it was damaged

by the cataclysm that occurred is conclusive proof that Mr. Hyde did not expect that our operations were dangerous to him. On the other hand, our foreman and both Mr. Reed and Mr. Gibbons testified that their operations were in accordance with established practice, and that we were using the shovel for the very purpose for which it had been invented.

Point 7 states that we had owned and operated other gravel pits and are familiar with other and normal procedures. That is true, and it is likewise true that this pit was operated in a normal manner.

There is no point to either number 8 and 9 since there is no evidence whatever that any other of our operators or engineers would have worked the pit in any different way than it was worked. In fact, the contrary appears, because both Mr. Gibbons and Mr. Reed are experienced operators and engineers and the pit was operated as it was with their full knowledge and approval.

The plaintiff stated in point 10 that we were warned by Mr. Hyde that the operation was dangerous. We have already shown that all Mr. Hyde was afraid of was for the safety of the men actually working in the blasting and in the removal of the material. He never warned us that there was any possible danger of the slide that actually occurred, nor did anyone else, nor is there a word of evidence that any such slide has ever occurred before in this area.

There is no point to number 11 because it was conceded that there was a danger to the men working from the sloughing off of material from the face of the cliff. That is not the kind of danger that plaintiff is complaining of in this case.

On point 12, there is not a word of evidence that men from a commercial operation refused to blast at this pit. The most that can be gained from that evidence is that two men came out and left; that they were hard-rock miners and didn't care to work in gravel, presumably because they knew nothing about blasting in gravel.

On point 13 there is not one witness who testified that this slide reasonably could be anticipated. Nothing of the kind was foreseen by anyone or could be foreseen by anyone because such a thing has never before occurred in this area.

Not one of the 13 points shows any duty that we owed the plaintiff. There is nothing in this case that required us to operate our pit to suit either Mr. Hyde's ideas or the plaintiffs. On the other hand, it appears from both the testimony of Mr. Hyde and from the plaintiff himself that if there was any danger both of them knew of it and were far more apprehensive than was the defendant, yet their apprehensions did not lead them to protect their property either because they thought their property was in no danger and if they

thought that to be the fact we cannot be charged with anticipating something neither of them anticipated, or in spite of the danger which was more apparent to them than to us they deliberately and of their own accord left their property where it could be injured. In either event there can be no recovery either by Mr. Hyde or the plaintiff since we owed no duty to them and if we did, they had knowledge equal or superior to ours and did not act to protect themselves, or else they felt that our operations were not dangerous to their property. Under any one of the propositions there can be no recovery by the plaintiff.

Plaintiff has cited many cases with which we have no quarrel. Actually they have no application, although several of them do announce well-established principals of law which absolutely bar the plaintiff from recovery in this case.

The cases and the texts discuss proximate cause, foreseeability, negligence and other well-established principles. There is not one case cited, and we have found none, where the event that caused the injury was of the kind with which we are concerned here. It is true that the rule is quite uniform that the foreseeability rule in determining proximate cause does not require the negligent person to foresee the injury in the precise form in which it occurred or to anticipate the particular consequences actually caused from his act or

ommission. However, it is likewise true that in all jurisdictions in determining proximate cause the law does not charge a person with all possible consequences of his negligent act.

“He is not responsible for a consequence which is merely possible, according to occasional experience, but only for a consequence which is probable, according to ordinary and usual experience. It has been said that the natural and probable consequences are those which human foresight can anticipate because they happen so frequently that they may be expected to happen again, and that the possible consequences are those which happen so infrequently that they are not expected to happen again. Negligence carries with it liability for consequences which, in the light of attendant circumstances, could reasonably have been anticipated by a prudent man, but not for casualties which, although possible, were wholly improbable.” 38 *Am Jur*, par 61, page 712, (supra).

Of course, all the authorities cited assume that the defendant owed a duty to the plaintiff. In *Cove vs. Thompson*, 254 P. 2d 1047, cited by plaintiff at page 35, this court affirmed a directed verdict because of the deceased's contributory negligence. The court also discussed the last clear chance rule, with which we are not concerned in this case.

Stone vs. Railroad, 32 Utah 205, 89 P. 722, commences at page 715 of the Pacific Reports, and the quotation given by the plaintiff is completed by the following which when applied to plaintiff bars his recovery:

"If the act is one which the party, in the exercise of ordinary care, could have anticipated as likely to result in injury, then he is liable for any injury actually resulting from it, although he could not have anticipated the particular injury which did occur."

The evidence in the case at bar is all to the effect that no reasonable person could have anticipated the slide that injured the plaintiff's shovel. The plaintiff however, claims that he was apprehensive for his shovel working in close proximity to the bank. He was not so apprehensive that he took any steps to remove it from the pit, clearly indicating either that he didn't care or that he didn't think it was in any particular danger.

The next case cited by the plaintiff is *Mountain States Tel & Tel. Co., vs. Consolidated Freightways*, 242 P. 2d 563 (cited in plaintiff's index as 232 P. 2d). That case merely applies the test of foreseeability, which as we have already pointed out has no application here since no one could foresee or did foresee that the entire mountain would slip away or that there was any danger to anyone except as might be caused by sloughing material and rocks.

The texts cited by plaintiff are merely repetitious of the principles announced in the cases. This is particularly true of the annotation 155 A. L. R. 157.

In the case of *Coray vs. Southern Pacific*, 112 Utah 166, 185 P. 2d 963, this court made several interesting

observations particularly applicable here and which in our judgment point up both the lack of a cause of action and also the plaintiff's equal responsibility if there was any responsibility. At page 968 of the Pacific Reports, this court stated in par. 12:

"Jurors sitting as triers of the fact are not empowered to decide legal questions, nor draw any conclusions of law therefrom except as guided by the instructions of the court. If there is no dispute as to the facts, there is no occasion to instruct the jury, for the jurors have no conflict in evidence to determine, and no ultimate facts to find."

In our case as we have already pointed out the plaintiff himself brought out all the facts with reference to his knowledge, his fears, his apprehensions and what he did. There was no burden upon us to prove this and it was undisputed. There was nothing for the jury to decide. Nor is it disputed that we owned the land and that the plaintiff's shovel was present on said land at the plaintiff's own risk. This court also said (par. 14) in that case:

"The 'cause' must, of course, be the legal cause, in order to be the basis of recovery. To show merely that the injury would not have occurred had there been no violation of the act, is not the equivalent of showing that the violation was the cause thereof. 'In order to be the legal cause of another's harm, it is not enough that the harm would not have occurred had the actor not been negligent * * *. The negligence

must also be a substantial factor as well as an actual factor in bringing about the plaintiff's harm. The word 'substantial' is used to denote the fact that the defendant's conduct has such an effect in producing the harm as to lead reasonable men to regard it as a cause, using that word in the popular sense in which there always lurks the idea of responsibility, rather than in the so-called 'philosophic sense,' which includes every one of the great number of events without which any happening would not have occurred. Each of these events is a cause in the so-called 'philosophic sense,' yet the effect of many of them is so insignificant that no ordinary mind would think of them as causes.' "

On page 969 this court said :

"So in the instant case the question of liability may be considered as a question of whether there was any breach of duty on the part of the railroad to plaintiff's intestate, rather than a question of proximate cause."

That is exactly the question here. There was no breach of duty in the case at bar owed by the defendant to the plaintiff and the court so found as did this court in the Coray case.

On the question of plaintiff's contributory negligence plaintiff, of course, is understandably vague. He states at page 38 of his brief :

"Under the tension and strain of cross examination as to why he did not personally remove the

shovel instead of attempting to locate Newman, he testified that he had his good clothes on and didn't want to leave his car in danger."

This is not the entire extent of the plaintiff's conduct as we have already pointed out and to which we shall make no further reference.

The case of *Clay v. Dunford*, 239 P. 2d 1075, cited by plaintiff at page 39, discusses assumption of risk as compared to contributory negligence and states that (p. 1076):

"The essential elements of assumed risk are *knowledge*, actual or implied, by the plaintiff of a *specific* defect or dangerous condition caused by the negligence of the defendant in the violation of some duty owing to the plaintiff, * * * together with the plaintiff's *appreciation* of the danger to be encountered and his voluntary exposure of himself to it."

Page 1077 of the Pacific Reporter also states:

"It has been said that 'knowledge of the risk is the watchword of * * * assumption of risk'."

In our case there is lacking also the violation of a duty owed plaintiff by us.

The case of *Gibbs vs. Blue Cab*, 249 P. 2d 213, cited by plaintiff at page 40, states as is the general rule that each case depends on its own facts, with which we agree.

There is no case cited by plaintiff, nor have we found one asserting that a property owner using his

own property for the very purposes for which it is valuable is bound to protect a person on said property for his own benefit, with full knowledge of everything being done and of all the facts and circumstances surrounding the activity, from the results of an event that was not and could not be foreseen by anyone present at the operation.

The case of *Stickle vs. Union Pacific R. R. Co.*, 251 P. 867, cited at page 41 of plaintiff's brief does not add anything to the discussion. This court said at page 870 of the Pacific Reporter, par. 7 and 8:

"It should be kept in mind that so far as the quantum of proof necessary to take the question of contributory negligence from the jury is concerned, the tests are the same as with respect to primary negligence."

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